Facultad de Filosofia, Letras y Ciencias de la Educación

Carrera de Lengua y Literatura Inglesa

"The Effects of Corrective Feedback on the Development of ESL/EFL

Learners' Writing Skills"

Trabajo de titulación previo a la

obtención del título de Licenciado

en Ciencias de la Educación en

Lengua y Literatura Inglesa

Autor: Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaéz CI: 0302608211 Chino07sn@gmail.com Directora: Lcda. Veronica Rosalía Piedra Carrión, Mgs. CI: 0106044803

Cuenca-Ecuador

09-Junio-2022



Resumen

Esta síntesis investigativa tiene como objeto analizar los efectos de la retroalimentación correctiva en el desarrollo de destrezas de escritura en estudiantes del idioma inglés en segunda lengua o lengua extranjera. Además, reportar tipos, estrategias y percepciones de este tipo de retroalimentación. Para el propósito de este estudio bibliográfico, se seleccionaron veintiséis estudios para su análisis. Estos utilizaron diferentes instrumentos y ocurrieron en diferentes contextos. Los resultados preliminares mostraron que los profesores y los estudiantes percibieron la retroalimentación correctiva como beneficiosa y como una herramienta importante para mejorar las habilidades de escritura. Sin embargo, el efecto de la retroalimentación depende de algunos aspectos relacionados con el proceso de escritura. Esos aspectos son área de mejora de la retroalimentación y los agentes proveedores de retroalimentación. Finalmente, es recomendable un análisis más profundo sobre las percepciones de la retroalimentación correctiva, sobre todo en un contexto propio como es Ecuador.

Palabras claves: Retroalimentación correctiva. Destrezas de escritura. Corrección de errores. Estrategias de retroalimentación.



Abstract

This research synthesis aimed to discover the effects of corrective feedback on the development of ESL/EFL learners' writing skills. Moreover, to analyze the types, the strategies, and the perceptions of teachers and students towards corrective feedback. For the purpose of this research synthesis, twenty-six studies that used different instruments and occurred in various settings were selected to be analyzed. The preliminary results showed that teachers and students perceived corrective feedback as beneficial and essential for improving writing skills. Nevertheless, the effect of feedback depended on some aspects related to the writing process. Those aspects are the area of writing improvement, type of writing task, type of corrective feedback, feedback focus, and agent provider of feedback. Finally, as a recommendation, it is suggested to analyze perceptions of corrective feedback in a more profound way, also to consider Ecuador as context for further research.

Keywords: Corrective feedback. Writing skills. Error correction. Strategies of feedback.



Table of contents

Resumen	
Abstract	
Table of contents	
List of tables	6
Acknowledgments	7
Dedication	10
CHAPTER I	
1. Description of the research	11
1.1. Background	11
1.2. Problem statement	
1.3. Rationale	14
1.4. Research questions	16
1.5. Objectives	16
1.5.1. General objective	16
1.5.2. Specific objectives	16
CHAPTER II	
2. Theoretical framework.	17
2.1. Definition of writing skill	17
2.2. Definition of feedback	
2.3. Types of feedback	19
2.4. Error and mistakes	20
2.5. Strategies of providing corrective feedback	
2.6. Agents-providers of feedback	
CHAPTER III	
Literature review	
3.1. The Role of Corrective Feedback	

3.2.	Types of Corrective Feedback	25
3.3.	Strategies of corrective feedback.	27
3.3	.1. Direct and indirect strategy	27
3.3	.2. Metalinguistic, focused and unfocused	27
3.3	.3. Peer feedback strategy	28
3.4.	Students' and Teachers' perceptions.	29
3.4	.1. Students' perceptions	29
3.4	.2. Teachers' perceptions	30
CHAP	ГЕR IV	31
Method	ology	31
CHAP	ΓER V	32
Analysi	s of the data	32
5.1.	Area by continent	32
5.2.	Participants' English level	33
5.3.	Approaches to improving writing skills	34
5.4.	Area of writing improvement	36
5.5.	Type and form of corrective feedback	39
5.6.	Strategies of corrective feedback.	42
5.7.	Type of writing task.	45
5.8.	Agent providers of feedback.	46
5.9.	Perceptions toward corrective feedback	49
CHAP	ГЕR VI	52
6. Co	nclusions and Recommendations	52
6.1.	Conclusions	52
6.2.	Recommendations	55
Referer	nces	56



List of tables

Table 1 Area by continent	
Table 2 Setting	
Table 3 Approaches to improving writing skills	34
Table 4 Area of writing improvement	36
Table 5 Type and form of CF	40
Table 6 Strategies of CF	43
Table 7 Type of writing task	46
Table 8 Agent providers of feedback	47
Table 9 Perceptions towards feedback	49

Cláusula de licencia y autorización para publicación en el Repositorio Institucional

Yo Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narváez en calidad de autor y titular de los derechos morales y patrimoniales del trabajo de titulación "The Effects of corrective feedback on the development of ESL/EFL learners' writing skills", de conformidad con el Art. 114 del CÓDIGO ORGÁNICO DE LA ECONOMÍA SOCIAL DE LOS CONOCIMIENTOS, CREATIVIDAD E INNOVACIÓN reconozco a favor de la Universidad de Cuenca una licencia gratuita, intransferible y no exclusiva para el uso no comercial de la obra, con fines estrictamente académicos.

Asimismo, autorizo a la Universidad de Cuenca para que realice la publicación de este trabajo de titulación en el repositorio institucional, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en el Art. 144 de la Ley Orgánica de Educación Superior.

Cuenca, 09 de junio de 2022

In SP

Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narváez C.I: 0302608211

7

Cláusula de Propiedad Intelectual

Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narváez

ï

Yo, Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narváez autor del trabajo de titulación "The Effects of corrective feedback on the development of ESL/EFL learners' writing skills", certifico que todas las ideas, opiniones y contenidos expuestos en la presente investigación son de exclusiva responsabilidad de su autor.

Cuenca, 09 de Junio de 2022

are It

Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narváez

C.I:0302608211



Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to thank all my university professors, professors of the English major, who helped me achieve my goal of becoming an English teacher.

In addition, I want to thank my Taller teachers Mst. Catalina Jaramillo and PhD.Tammy Fajardo. I also want to express my gratitude to my thesis tutor Mst. Verónica Piedra Carrión, who gave me her professional guidance and support throughout the development of this synthesis.

Last but not least, I would like to thank all the people who were there to support me when I started to feel down, especially my friends and classmates Diego, Johnny, Jackie, and Abigail. I would not have been able to finish this project without their support and encouraging words.



Dedication

This research synthesis is dedicated to my beloved parents, Lastenia and Heriberto, who have supported me throughout the whole process of becoming a teacher. They were always by my side in the most challenging times. They taught me that I have to be a good human before becoming a professional. To my siblings, Luisa, Carlos, Marlene, and Sonia, whose unconditional love and support encouraged me to follow my dream of becoming a teacher. To the people who always believed in me.



CHAPTER I

1. Description of the research

1.1. Background

Oxford dictionary defines feedback as "advice, criticism or information about how good or useful something or somebody's work is." However, the definition needs to be narrow to the field of education. According to Ur. (2006), feedback, in the context of teaching in general, is any kind of information provided to learners about their performance so that they can improve their performance. In other words, feedback in education is information provided by an external agent regarding some aspect(s) of the learner's task performance, intended to modify the learner's cognition, motivation or behavior (Kluger, & DeNisi, 1996). Accordingly, teachers are conscious of their students' performance when they provide feedback, and they expect their students to learn from their mistakes. Giving feedback has been identified as a source of necesary information about the students' strengths and weaknesses to improve on a specific aspect. The role of feedback in language learning is crucial because it can support students' motivation to improve learners' retention of information (Furnborough, & Truman, 2009).

On the other hand, Nasim, Azade, & Mohammad (2015) state that writing is one of the most critical skills in second language teaching, learning, and assessment. Consequently, teachers must enhance their students' writing skills. One beneficial way to provide enhancement is by using feedback properly. Gattegno (as cited in Nunan, 1995) suggests that feedback is a fundamental aspect of the education process since it allows the correction of errors during a Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 11

written assignment. Thus, giving feedback in the ESL/EFL writing process is essential to improve students' writing skills (Brown, 2001).

Additionally, modern concepts of types of feedback have emerged to help teachers provide students with support on skills development. Nunan (1995), Brown (2000), and Ur (2006) agree that, at least, there are two levels of feedback: positive feedback and negative feedback. Furthermore, feedback can be classified into two types: explicit and implicit. Explicit feedback is apparent and evident, which is perceived by students. Conversely, implicit feedback turns into non-evident. Students have to notice it and know how to use it to foster their learning (Ur, 2006).

Moreover, Sheen (2004) has brought to light an inclusive concept: Corrective Feedback (CF). According to this author, "the term "corrective feedback' is used as an umbrella term to cover implicit and explicit negative feedback occurring in both natural conversational and instructional settings." The role of feedback has been a matter of debate in second language acquisition. Some authors, like Schmidt (1990) and Long (1996), claim that negative feedback, which is the teacher's overall attention towards mistakes (brown, 2000), plays a facilitative and crucial role in language acquisition. Furthermore, Long (1996) believes that implicit negative feedback can give students a chance to pay attention to linguistic form from the interaction between the teacher and learners. Thus, linguistic forms may foster the student's acquisition of the language. However, Krashen (1981), Schwartz (1993), and Truscott (1996) differ from Long (1996) and Schmidt's (1990) since they state that just positive feedback is enough for students to

acquire a second language. Moreover, they add that there is no sense in using negative feedback, and it may cause damaging effects on the learners' language acquisition process.

Finally, Hattie & Timperley (2007) investigated the meaning of feedback in the classroom. They proposed a model of feedback that is used to identify the circumstances under which feedback has the most significant impact. The research evidence, which is related to the different types of feedback and their effectiveness in promoting learning, showed aspects of teaching. Consequently, these authors found that feedback can be used to enhance learning and teaching.

1.2. Problem statement

In the language learning process, feedback refers to comments, explanations, and helpful data, which learners receive from teachers to help them improve their skills (Richards, & Schmidt, 2002). However, feedback application in skills such as writing discourages learners from improving their skills (Farnborough & Truman, 2009). Moreover, Farnborough & Truman (2009) pointed out that teachers do not encourage learners to improve their writing skills because teachers ignore the vital role that feedback has to increase motivation and students' cognitive skill development.

Notwithstanding, Correa, Martinez, Molina, Silva & Torres (2013) found out that a lack of teachers' awareness and knowledge on how to provide feedback was notorious. Teachers and learners think that correction is just related to correcting mistakes instead of providing positive or

negative comments that help students develop their writing skills. Nevertheless, Ur (2006) stated that additional comments support writing improvement more than correcting mistakes.

In addition, teachers have neglected the role of feedback in writing since they do not motivate students to develop their writing skills when they provide feedback (Norouzian, & Khomeijani, 2012). While feedback is widely seen as possibly one strategy of the most powerful influences on learning, this potential remains unexplored because teachers neglect the role of feedback and lack of practice (Hyland, 2013). Moreover, Hattie & Timperley (2007) mention that the negation of the role or significance of feedback is because there are differences in which feedback strategy results effectively.

At last, Brown (2007) states that the correct feedback application can help learners avoid future problems as a fossilization phenomenon. Behaviorists call fossilization the process of assuming an error as correct. Therefore, it is not fixed and keeps being repeated every time. Brown (2001) emphasizes that an appropriate application of feedback can persevere through time on students' minds and help them improve their writing skills. However, teachers' perceptions of beneficial feedback might not coincide, and this discrepancy makes the role of feedback ineffective (Hattie & Timperley, 2007).

1.3. Rationale

Patchan, Charney, & Schunn (2009) state that students are missing out on a potential learning opportunity when instructors provide poor feedback because they do not provide the basis for writing enhancement. Ferris (2003) pointed out that receiving feedback of errors Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 14

without the correction is more beneficial to learners' improvement than direct corrections. It is because learners need to understand where they committed the errors by themselves. Therefore, feedback applied in different forms can provide learners a way of learning from their mistakes. According to Hyland (1990), feedback on writing should play an essential role in cognitive scaffolding development and make students aware of their writing strengths and weaknesses.

Bitchener, Young, and Cameron (2005) found that the students' accuracy in writing can be improved by the provision of feedback. Thus, feedback helps EFL/ESL teachers reformulate the logic behind their practices and provides the ground for more dynamic learning environments to support learners to improve their learning skills. Abadikhahand Ashoori (2012) pointed out that feedback on writing assessment provides a stimulus for learners to identify the gap or mismatch between their interlanguage and the target language. McClay and Peterson (2010) pointed out that teachers' feedback was directed toward nurturing students' self-confidence as writers and guiding students to improve their writing skills.

Therefore, an exhaustive analysis of the role of Corrective Feedback used on learners' writing skills will be carried out in this research synthesis. Also, this project will report effects, strategies, and teachers' and learners' perceptions of Corrective Feedback. This analysis will contribute to the education field because it will help teachers in the application of feedback on writing.



1.4.Research questions

- What are the effects of corrective feedback on students' writing skills development, as reported by the pertinent literature?
- What strategies of corrective feedback are the most effective to improve writing skills?
- What are the teachers' and students' perceptions of corrective feedback in writing development?

1.5. Objectives.

1.5.1. General objective

• To analyze the effects of corrective feedback on ESL/EFL students' writing skills.

1.5.2. Specific objectives

- To identify effective Corrective Feedback strategies reported in the studies.
- To analyze the perceptions students and teachers have of Corrective Feedback on the development of writing skills.



CHAPTER II

2. Theoretical framework.

This section of the research synthesis consists of concepts and theories on the role and types of feedback to develop writing skills. Those concepts are the basis for the research synthesis. It will include the following areas: the definition of writing skill, the definition of feedback, the types of feedback, error vs. mistake, strategies of CF, and agents for providing feedback.

2.1. Definition of writing skill.

Thought.co dictionary defines writing as a system of symbols to transmit an intended meaning. Those symbols and the interpretation of the symbols vary between people and their cultural knowledge. Moreover, a non-literal definition says that writing is a complicated process involving several cognitive and metacognitive activities, such as brainstorming, planning, outlining, organizing, drafting, and revising (Flower & Hayes, 1981). According to Nasim, Azade, & Mohammad (2015), writing is the most challenging area in ESL and EFL because of its complexity. Hyland (2003) described writing complexity as the process based on appropriate and strategic use of language with structural accuracy and communicative potential.

Moreover, Nasim, Azade, & Mohammad (2015) state that writing is one of the most critical skills in second language teaching, learning, and assessment. Although, writing relevance has been ignored. Kellogg (2008) pointed out that writing a text involves not just the language system. It poses significant challenges to our cognitive systems for memory and thinking as well. Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 17

Kellogg (2008) mentioned that writing is closely linked to thinking. Indeed, writers can gather virtually everything they have learned and stored it away in long-term memory. It means that the more they write, the more they know.

2.2. Definition of feedback

Oxford dictionary defines feedback as "advice, criticism or information about how good or useful something or somebody's work is." Thus, feedback can be viewed as an essential process for improving students' writing skills since it consists of the loaded information required for the writing process (Hyland, 1990; Hyland & Hyland, 2001). According to Ur. (2006), feedback is the information given to learners about their performance of a learning task to improve their performance. Moreover, feedback has been the concern of many researchers in second/foreign language writing. For instance (Ferris, 2005; Truscott, 2007; Bitchener and Knoch, 2010; Liskinasih, 2016) agree that feedback is necessary because a piece of writing without feedback cannot be improved. It is because feedback on writing contains a heavy informational load, which offers suggestions to facilitate improvement, and provides opportunities for interaction between teacher and student (Hyland & Hyland, 2006). Feedback is a crucial issue in the writing process, and it plays a central role since, without the provision of feedback, the aim of writing cannot be fulfilled (Ghanbari, Karampourchangi, & Reza, 2015). Feedback is considered as a great influence on learning as well as achievement, and the most important, students value it, but this impact on learning development can be either positive or negative (Hyland & Hyland, 2006; Hattie & Timperley, 2007).

Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez



2.3.Types of feedback

Researchers have been concerned about the type of feedback and its implementation. For instance, Nunan (1995) established the type of positive feedback. It has been idenfied that positive feedback allows students to realice what they have performed correctly by the way, and to increase motivation. Whereas Brown (2000) mentioned that there is a negative type of feedback if there is positive feedback. Negative feedback is the teacher's overall attention to mistakes. Thus, Nunan (1995), Brown (2000), and Ur (2006) agree that, at least, there are two types of feedback -positive and negative.

On the other hand, Sheen (2004) has brought to light an inclusive concept, which is Corrective Feedback (henceforth CF). According to this author, "the term' corrective feedback is used as an umbrella term to cover implicit and explicit negative (attention to mistakes) feedback occurring in both natural conversational and instructional settings" (p. 264). In other words, corrective feedback refers to giving explicit or implicit correct information about students' errors and letting them notice and internalize that information. Other studies such as Ferris and Helt (2000); Chandler (2003) investigated corrective feedback and where they are more likely than others to help students improving on their writing quality. Moreover, They came up with the distintion of explicit and implicit feedback and the effects on writing quality enhacement (Ferris and Helt, 2000; Chandler, 2003).

Explicit feedback refers to the process of providing the correction clearly, so the learners do not trouble correcting errors (Ellis, 2009). On the other hand, implicit feedback refers to the process in which the error correction is not clearly recognized, so learners may have trouble Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 19

correcting errors. However, Ferris and Roberts, 2001 explained explicit and implicit feedback might not be confused with direct and indirect corrective feedback. Actually, direct and indirect are strategies for providing written corrective feedback. In contrast, explicit and implicit feedback can be found in verbal correction.

In addition, error correction has been implemented in educational fields. Error correction is a common type of feedback used in EFL classes. Amara (2015) mentions that error correction is seen as feedback given to learners on their language use. Moreover, when teachers provide feedback, they cannot deny the fact that correcting students' errors is one of the most challenging tasks in language acquisition. Thus, every language teacher should consider some error correction issues: the difference between a mistake and an error, how much correction should be made, at what phases the teacher should correct the error, and how the teacher can correct the learner without de-motivating students.

2.4. Error and mistakes

The confusion between error and mistake influences the provision of feedback on writing. Amara mentioned that teachers should differentiate that an error is something that the learner does not acquire yet or is internalizing. However, a mistake is an accident, learners have acquired and internalized, but they do not realize what they are doing (Amara, 2015). Thus, when teachers provide feedback, they know if the learners committed an error or a mistake.

2.5. Strategies of providing corrective feedback

The type of feedback has been classified based on the ways or strategies included on the provision of feedback. For instance, Ferris and Roberts (2001) provided that, mostly direct and indirect feedback have been recognized as the main strategies of corrective feedback. Similarly, Ellis (2009) proposed a typology of strategies for providing corrective feedback. However, the typology did not only suggest the two classifications but also other classifications as; metalinguistic corrective feedback and electronic corrective.

First, direct corrective feedback is defined as the provision of the correct linguistic form or structure above or near the linguistic error. "It may include the crossing out of a pointless grammatical element, the insertion of a absent grammatical element, or the provision of the precise form or structure" (Bitchener, 2008; Ellis, 2009). Whereas indirect corrective feedback is mostly provided on written form, in order that, the teacher indicates that students have made an error in their writing, but the teacher does not correct the error. The teacher offers explicit corrections on students' writing by highlighting errors. In this type of feedback, students have to recognize their errors and correct them (Ferris, 2002; Ellis, 2009).

Second, metalinguistic corrective feedback which is a different strategy, provides linguistic hints for the emerged errors (Bitchener, 2008; Ellis, 2009). It can be provided not only in the form of error codes but also as a short-term grammatical explanation. In this kind of strategy, the teacher does not correct the inaccurate forms but rather, through different coding techniques, attracts the learners' attention to the problematic area. Another strategy of corrective

feedback is electronic, which is a way to provide feedback through computer-basis with the objective to lead students to pay attention to written errors. It is mechanical feedback that is provided by computer through a sophisticated software system (hyperlink) which is readily available (Ellis, 2009)

Then, the next type of strategy is focused and unfocused corrective feedback. Focused corrective feedback refers to specific errors that are selected and must be corrected. Some errors gain importance in focused CF and must be highlighted (Ellis, Sheen, Murakami & Takashima, 2008). Thus, focused CF intends to correct errors that follow an established criterion or rubric. However, occasionally errors are not pre-selected to be corrected, and the tutor provides feedback upon everything they consider to be corrected. This type of feedback is known as unfocused CF. Finally, unfocused CF refers to any error that can be fixed in the writing activity.

2.6. Agents-providers of feedback

Two main agents for providing feedback have been identified. These agents are part of the teaching strategy. A common strategy is when the teacher is the main agent provider of feedback. So, teachers' feedback enables students to read and understand their learning process problems and use feedback to improve. According to Hyland (1990), it is an advantage to receive feedback from the teacher. The author says that "Teachers have the advantage of obliging the students to go back and rework their draft" (Hyland, 1990). Thus, teachers' authority role represents an advantage for motivating learners to improve their skills.

Moreover, Leki (1991) mentioned that students expected teachers to correct all errors or mistakes because they felt they needed pressure to improve. Teacher response to students' work is an essential step in the writing process (Hyland, 1990; Ferris, 1999). Therefore, when teachers provide feedback, they inform learners about the progress they are making and guide them to areas that need to be improved (Lewis, 2002). Through the provision of feedback, teachers expected their students focus and concentrate more on what has been being learned. Besides, when teachers provide feedback, they make learners to be aware of their strong points and softness in a learning process. Indeed, they can use their fortes in order to overcome their weaknesses by understanding the feedback received.

On the other hand, nowadays classes are changing from being teacher-centered to student-centered; thus, the teacher's feedback strategy moved to feedback provided by peers. Studies like Sotoudehnama, & Pilehvari, (2014); Hattie & Timperley (2007) can help move toward the goal of autonomous training reviewers and independent writers, who can accurately evaluate their writing as well as their mates' writings, assess different areas of writing to be improved. The authors mentioned above investigated the role of peer feedback. Moreover, participating in peer review activities can be a fascinating adventure for students. It enables them to step out of themselves to see what they have created through others' eyes (Brown, 2001).

CHAPTER III

Literature review

This section presents the literature that will be analyzed in the present research synthesis. The studies have been classified according to the different characteristics published about feedback and feedback in writing. The classification is as follows: the role of corrective feedback, types of corrective feedback, strategies of corrective feedback, and teachers' and students' perceptions about the role of feedback.

3.1. The Role of Corrective Feedback.

Students' grades have been attributed to the effectiveness of feedback. In this correlation, Haniza, Maulan, & Ismail (2008) conducted a study to analyze the role of teachers' feedback on students' writing. In this study, students had to rewrite based on the feedback they received from their teachers. Moreover, grades were provided on content, organization, and language. Finally, the results showed that minimal feedback given to students was helpful and provided an opportunity to do self-revision, which is one of the most effective lifelong learning processes. The role of feedback is evident because students' grades increased after the re-writing task.

Similarly, Onwuagboke, & Agoha (2018) conducted a quasi-experimental study focusing on feedback effectiveness by comparing students' scores with feedback and students' scores without feedback on their performance. The result indicated the usefulness of feedback in Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 24

facilitating students' learning because the group that received feedback performed better than the group that did not receive feedback. It was evident because those grades were higher. Thus, the study demonstrates the role of feedback as a tool that facilitates students' learning. Therefore, students enhanced learning and improved their writing performance.

On the other hand, Furnborough, & Truman (2009) conducted a qualitative study to examine the use of assignment feedback among three groups of beginners' foreign language learners. The study analyzed the relation between feedback and affective factors such as anxiety and doubts. However, the results showed that affective factors did not affect the role of feedback because having anxiety is normal at any learning process. Notwithstanding, feedback was influential in the writing process since all participants demonstrated progress on their skills. Likewise, in an Iranian study conducted by Ghanbari, Karampourchangi & Reza (2015), it was observed that the role of feedback on writing had a positive effect despite having time pressure and peer feedback. Participants who received feedback showed improvement in their writing performance.

3.2. Types of Corrective Feedback

Sheen (2004) highlighted the figure of corrective as the most used type of feedback. Moreover, corrective feedback is used as an umbrella to cover explicit and implicit negative feedback. Brown (2002) mentions that negative feedback is the core part of CF because of its focus on errors. Similarly, Liskinasih (2016) found that CF is commonly applied in language learning. He observed a figure of corrective feedback in the Speaking and Grammar class. Thus, the study demonstrated corrective feedback in two forms; written and verbal.

Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez

Under other conditions, Bitchener (2005) conducted a study to investigate whether the type of feedback (direct, explicit written feedback and conferences) improved accuracy in new writing pieces. The study found a significant effect for combining written and conference feedback (oral feedback) on accuracy levels in correcting grammatical errors. Additionally, it was found that the type of feedback depended on what was being learned. Thus, explicit corrective feedback was effective for correcting grammatical errors. Diversely, Correa, Martinez, Molina, Silva, & Torres (2013) demonstrated that explicit feedback focused on content and organization of written messages motivated students to carry out writing activity. The findings show that students felt motivated to re-write a writing task when the teacher provided feedback on content and organization.

However, Wahyuni (2017) revealed that the writing quality was not wildely different between students who got explicit corrective feedback, and those who got implicit. It means that feedback improved writing quality despite the type of it. Nevertheless, Tee (2014) found written directive feedback to be useful and students liked it the most compared to the other categories of feedback. The study' findings clearly indicated that the written feedback was helpful and valuable in their essay revision. The reason was that the feedback was clear, direct, and information loaded. The findings from the written drafts indicated two forms of feedback that were commonly accepted by the students; directive and expressive feedback. Moreover, it is important for the students to receive explicit feedback on writing tasks, because they can improve their linguistic competence.



3.3. Strategies of corrective feedback.

3.3.1. Direct and indirect strategy

The strategies for providing corrective feedback are different from the types of feedback. For instance, Ferris and Roberts (2001) suggested distinguishing between explicitness and directness. Thus, explicitness is related to the type of CF, and directness is related to the strategy of CF. Moreover, Bitchener (2008) found that although direct strategy is slightly notorious, direct and indirect are strategies commonly applied in written corrective feedback. Bitchener (2008) found that direct corrective feedback avoids students' troubles for identifying because the feedback is evident. Similarly, Ellis (2009) investigated strategies for providing corrective feedback. She observed that direct and indirect corrective feedback occurred simultaneously and helped students to overcome their weaknesses.

3.3.2. Metalinguistic, focused and unfocused

Moreover, Ellis (2009) investigated the strategies for providing corrective feedback. She observed different strategies for providing corrective feedback and proposed a typology of strategies for written CF. Thus, the strategies are: direct, indirect, metalinguistic, focused and unfocused. Therefore, the results showed that focused CF let teachers to focus on specific categories of errors. However, unfocused CF ruled upon teachers' beliefs and students' needs. Similarly, Reza, Safivand and Fatamipour (2010) found that the strategy depended on what was being learned. So, direct or indirect, and focused or unfocused CF accomplish the role of feedback on students' writing improvement.

Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez

3.3.3. Peer feedback strategy

Teachers have been considered as the main agents and providers of feedback. For instance, Furnborough, & Truman (2009) found that students see teachers as the person who can judge their work because they are trained and they have the knowledge of what to correct. Similarly, Hyland (2013) found that students benefit from teacher's feedback because they see teachers as authority and students should abide by teachers. Nonetheless, nowadays it has been changing and the classes are incorporating different strategies or agents providers of feedback. For instance, Sotoudehnama, & Pilehvari (2015) carried out a study considering the beneficial effects of peer review on EFL learners' writing development. This study compared two groups to determine the advantages of peer review in giving or receiving feedback. The results showed the beneficial aspect of peer feedback on improving local aspects of their writings' structure and vocabulary. He also suggested that the students who commented on the writings of their peers benefited more than the ones who read the comments and modified the texts.

Likewise, in Sotoudehnama's study (2015) presented in the previous section, Ghanbari, Karampourchangi, & Reza (2015) conducted a study to explore the effect of time pressure and peer feedback on EFL students' writing performance. The findings declared that time pressure had no effect. Nevertheless, peer feedback had a significant effect on writing performance and verbal communication. Peer feedback facilitated the process of giving and accepting criticism, and authenticated and empowered peers' positions with peers. Furthermore, Huisman, Saab, Van Driel, & van den Broek, (2018) found the same result of peer feedback. They investigated the writing performances of undergraduate students who either received or provided feedback and

their perceptions about the role of feedback. Results showed that both providing and receiving feedback led to similar improvements in writing performance; they improved local aspects of their writings and verbal communication. The authors concluded that peer's feedback is beneficial because it influences both sides: givers and receivers.

3.4. Students' and Teachers' perceptions.

3.4.1. Students' perceptions

Alvira (2016) Investigated the use of feedback and the perceptions towards it. The author found that the role of feedback has been established as a crucial aspect of the writing process. The results showed that students perceive feedback as a tool that facilitates their learning process. However, corrective feedback had a different effect on writing improvement, and the effect depended on the explicitness of the feedback (Correa, Martinez, Molina, Silva, & Torres, 2013). Thus, students' perceptions might depend on the type of Corrective Feedback.

Similarly, Ellis (2009) found that the students' perceptions depended on the strategies of providing CF. Likewise, Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2016) emphasize the role of the agents involved in the feedback provision. The results of those studies demonstrated that students respond to feedback positively. However, students appreciate some strategies or types more than others. Thus, their perceptions might contribute to a mutual improvement.

Leki (1991) investigated learners' perceptions about the strategy of feedback provided by teachers. The study found that students expected teachers to correct all errors because they felt they needed pressure to improve. Students' perceptions of feedback respond positively, so students believe that the feedback results are beneficial. Similarly, Hyland (2013) found positive Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 29

perceptions of students because students believed that they benefit more when receiving feedback from their teachers because they see teachers as the authority. Conversely, Weaver (2006) investigated students' perceptions of teachers' feedback. The study demonstrated that some students perceive that teacher's feedback is too general or vague, lacking guidance, focused only on the negative, or unrelated to the topic or to the assigned task.

3.4.2. Teachers' perceptions

On the other hand, Furnborough, & Truman (2009) conducted a study to analyze teachers' perceptions about the use of feedback. The study demonstrated that teachers believed that their feedback is beneficial because they were trained to do so. Teachers have the knowledge and the facility to provide feedback that their students need. Moreover, teachers concluded that in some way, they obligated their students to improve; they believed it contributed to learners' writing improvement.

Finally, teachers' perceptions resulted positively because teachers consider it necessary for writing improvement. Conversely, a recent study conducted by Lee, Leong, and Song (2016) found that teachers perceive peer feedback as an opportunity because learners can improve their writing by correcting peers' errors. Similarly, Huisman, Saab, Van Driel, & van den Broek (2018) demonstrated a new inclination for the agent provider of feedback. The results showed teachers perceived peer feedback as strategically beneficial.



CHAPTER IV

Methodology

This paper is a research synthesis, which refers to a continuum of techniques and research procedures developed by social scientists to review past literature systematically (Ortega, 2015). Thus, an exhaustive search and some parameters have been established to select the twenty-six studies in order to obtain reliable, relevant, and accurate data for this descriptive bibliographical research synthesis. First, the articles must be empirical to show the relationship between writing and the role of corrective feedback. Second, the empirical articles have to be recent; the publication date has to be since 2000. However, some exceptions will be accepted for those related to theory and theoretical concepts. Third, the studies should be associated with ESL and EFL learning participants. Finally, there will not be any discrepancy between the methodology of the primary studies; that is, those studies can be quantitative, qualitative, or mixed ones.

Regarding databases, the ones used for this research paper were Google Scholar, Academia, Redalyc, ResearchGate, Eric, and the virtual library of the University of Cuenca. Some journals were: journal of language teaching and research, journal of education and social science, and journals of second language writing.

Some of the keywords for the literature review were error correction, feedback, strategies, corrective feedback, implicit and explicit feedback, writing skills.



CHAPTER V

Analysis of the data

For the present research synthesis, 26 studies were gathered from different sources. Those studies fulfilled the criteria established in the methodology section. They have been classified according to the following categories: Area by continent, setting, approaches to improving writing skills, area of writing improvement, type of corrective feedback, strategies of CF, agent provider of feedback, writing task. However, only ten studies were gathered for the analysis of one category, which is perceptions toward feedback. Additionally, those studies are classified in this way in order to answer the research questions established in the introduction section.

5.1. Area by continent

Table 1 shows the area by continent where the studies were conducted. This category emerged as the necessity to analyze the topic and the reality of the context. It was classified as follows: Europe, Asia, Middle East, and America.

	No of studies	%
Europe	5	19.23
Asia	11	42.30
Middle East	6	23.07
America	4	15.38

Table 1 Area by continent

Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez

It was found that the majority of the studies were conducted in countries such as China, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Korea, Singapore, and Thailand. Then, the Middle East countries,Saudi Arabia, Iran, and Jordan, occupy the second place. Conversely, few studies have been conducted in America and Europe. Europe included countries such as the United Kingdom, Liverpool, and the Netherlands. On the other hand, American studies occurred in Colombia, Chile, United States, and Canada. Thus, there is a gap for collecting authentic sources according to our context Ecuador.

5.2.Participants' English level

Table 2 Setting

	No of studies	%	
Beginners	0	0%	
Intermediate	16	61.53%	
Advances	8	30.76 %	
No mentioned	2	7.69%	

Table two indicates the English level of the participants of the studies gathered for this research synthesis. Although three categories have been established: beginners, intermediate, and advanced in this table, only intermediate and advanced participants were mentioned in the studies. One of the reasons for this may be the one stated by Hyland (2013), who found that feedback on writing works better on complex writing tasks that intermediate and advanced participants can offer. Also, as mentioned by Hyland, the setting is related to the writing assignment and the area of writing improvement.

Finally, the effect of feedback is not directly related to the participant, the effect of feedback depends on some other aspects mentioned below: area of writing improvement, type of feedback, agent provider, strategies, and writing task (Correa, Martinez, Molina, Silva, & Torres 2013; Ellis, 2009).

5.3. Approaches to improving writing skills

Table 3 shows the identified main approaches to improving writing skills by providing feedback. The approaches emerged through the analysis of those 26 empirical studies and were classified as follows. Process-oriented approach, product-oriented approach, and process-product oriented approach.

	No. Studies	
Process-oriented approach	8/26	
Product-oriented approach	6/26	
Product-process approach	8/26	
None mentioned	4/26	

Table 3 Approaches to improving writing skills

The first approach is process-oriented. This approach is used to emphasize the feedback focus on syntax and grammatical errors in the writing process. This approach demands that the feedback provided on writing should fulfill grammar aspects to create competent writers (Duijnhouwer, Prin, & Stokking, 2012). For instance, Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2016) offer teachers reassuring evidence that high-intermediate students have the required knowledge and Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 34

potential to be successful peer reviewers as an integral part of the process-oriented writing classroom (p45). In other words, the process-oriented approach is notorious despite the agent who provided the feedback. The process-oriented approach supports the idea of checking form instead of content. Thus, the process becomes the *focused feedback* in the writing process. 30% of the studies share the notion that form is more important than content while checking students' writing tasks.

On the other hand, six studies based their research on a product-oriented approach. The product-oriented approach focuses on the final product. It means that what should be corrected are ideas regarding cohesion, coherence, organization, and transition (Peterson, & McClay, 2010; Hyland, 2013). In other words, the main focus of this approach is content instead of form. The studies of Lee (2007) and Peterson and McClay (2010) implemented this approach over the overuse of process-oriented approach because they found limitations in the process-oriented approach focus. Then, the product-oriented approaches fulfilled those limitations. Additionally, the product-oriented approach emphasizes the idea of critical and logical writers.

Although the product-oriented approach seemed to be opposite to the process-oriented approach, they share the same objective. Those approaches aim to improve learners' writing skills. Therefore, the product and the process approaches aim to improve writing quality by working independently. However, there are some limitations for each approach that its counterpart can fulfil. The product-oriented approach can fulfill process-oriented approach limitations and vice versa. Thus, a third category emerged from those mentioned previously. The product-process approach, which is the combination of two different points of view and the same

objective, seeks to facilitate the provision of feedback and writing improvement. The productprocess approach aims to improve writing quality by working together (Haniza, Maulan, & Ismail, 2008; Patchan, Charney, & Schunn, 2009; Ghanbari, Karampourchangi, & Reza, (2015). In other words, the studies that implemented the product- process approach aimed to improve writing quality and it can be done by providing feedback on content and form. Thus, the effect of feedback on students' writing skills is beneficial.

5.4. Area of writing improvement.

Table 4 shows the area of writing that feedback intended to improve. Those areas emerged from the analysis of 26 studies. The areas of writing improvement were classified as content, form and vocabulary. However, the area of content included the subcategories cohesion and coherence. And the area of form included subcategories as: grammar and syntax.

Area	No. Studies	
Cohesion	16/26	
Coherence	16/26	
Grammar	14/26	
Syntax	11/26	
Vocabulary	5/26	
	Cohesion Coherence Grammar Syntax	Cohesion16/26Coherence16/26Grammar14/26Syntax11/26

Table 4 Area of writing improvement	Table 4	Area	of writing	improvement
-------------------------------------	---------	------	------------	-------------

Table 4 shows that content was the predominant area of writing improvement. The content area required the provision of feedback upon global aspects of writing. Global aspects of writing refer to sub areas such as: comprehension, organization, cohesion and coherence (Sotoudehnama & Pilehvari, 2016). Moreover, the content area of writing brings out that product-oriented approach rules upon the provision of feedback. Thus, the content area requires feedback upon global aspects of writing, and gives importance to a final product (Patchan, Charney, & Schunn, 2009; Sotoudehnama & Pilehvari. 2016). However, Hyland (2003) demonstrated cohesion and coherence received attention during the provision of feedback and they represent the *content-area*. Thus, only cohesion and coherence were included and the table. Hyland (2013) stated that feedback should focus on content. It means that feedback should promote critical thinkers instead of expert writers. As mentioned by Hyland feedback provided upon content affected writing fluency. Thus, writers were able to write big writing tasks accurately.

Conversely, some studies focused on form as an area of writing improvement. The area of the form included subcategories such as: grammar and syntax. and those sub-categories are recognized as local areas of writing (Furnborough and Truman, 2009). Moreover, According to Grami (2005) feedback is mandatory to correct the *form-area* of writing and teachers cannot deny that they do it. For instance, when teachers provide feedback, they focus on grammar and syntax which are the local aspects of writing. Notwithstanding, Furnborough and Truman. (2009), Grami (2005), and Duijnhouwer, Prins and Stokking, (2012) conducted studies in which feedback intended to accomplish form-writing improvement. They demonstrated process-

oriented approach rules upon the provision of feedback. This approach emphasizes that feedback should improve the writing process by focusing on grammar error correction. Moreover, the feedback on form affected writers regarding accuracy. Learners were able to write accurately when they received feedback on local aspects of writing (Duijnhouwer, Prins and Stokking, 2012).

On the other hand, some studies highlighted content and form as areas of writing improvement by considering content and form as areas of writing that have to be improved separately. Those studies aimed to improve writing by providing feedback on content and form. Bitchener (2005) mentioned it is possible to promote organized content writers with an excellent writing knowledge level while providing feedback on both areas. For example, Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2016) conducted a study where feedback provision created fluent and accurate writers. It means that they were taught about the global and local aspects of writing. (p.38) Thus, they could improve those aspects. Chandler (2003) focused on content and form as areas of writing that must be improved by providing feedback and concluded that writing can be improved in both areas. Thus, feedback on content and form affected students/writers regarding fluency and accuracy. Writers were able to write their writing tasks in an organized, and accurate way. Similarly, the provision of feedback upon the *content-form area* is ruled by an approach, which is product-process approach.

Additionally, studies like Ghanbari, Karampourchangi and Reza (2015), and Wahtyni (2017) demonstrated that vocabulary is one area of writing that can be improved by feedback provision. However, this area of writing improvement does not depend on an approach. Thus, few studies focused on vocabulary as an area of writing improvement. Vocabulary has not been Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 38

considered an essential element in writing improvement because correcting errors seemed to overshadow vocabulary importance (Ashraf, Fareed, & Bilal 2016). Therefore, feedback on vocabulary affected writers regarding fluency and accuracy because learners were able to retain information that they corrected.

5.5. Type and form of corrective feedback

Table 5 shows the type of corrective feedback implemented in the studies. The analysis indicates that corrective feedback, which consists of providing corrections implicitly or explicitly, is the most notorious type of feedback. It means that it was repetitive among the studies. However, the research consisted of analyzing implicit and explicit as types of corrective feedback. Besides the factor, table 5 shows two forms of providing corrective feedback: written and oral. Those two forms of providing feedback are related to the explicitness of corrective feedback. Actually, verbal corrective feedback and written corrective feedback happen in two ways; explicit and implicit.

	Explicit	Implicit
Written	21/26	12/26
Oral	7/26	NA

Table 5 Type and form of CF

First, the main type of feedback is corrective feedback. Corrective feedback resulted to be common among twenty of twenty- six studies. Corrective feedback is a term used to cover negative feedback. Brown (2000) mentioned that negative feedback is related to mistakes and Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 39

errors, while positive feedback is related to positive comments too. The purpose of providing corrective feedback is either to show learners the error they made and wait for the correction or to show learners the corrections of their errors. Hyland (2013) mentioned that the effect of corrective feedback depends on how explicit or implicit the teacher wants to be. Thus, two types of feedback emerged from this affirmation: explicit-corrective feedback and implicit-corrective feedback. Sheen, (2004) highlighted the term of corrective feedback as an umbrella to cover explicit or implicit negative feedback.

Explicit feedback refers to the process of providing the correcting order clearly, so the learners do not trouble correcting errors (Ellis, 2009). Explicit feedback intends to show where the errors are, and the learners have no problems identifying and correcting them (Ellis, 2009). explicit corrective feedback facilitates the agent provider of feedback since orders are clear and can be understood easily. There is no concern about order confusion. Nevertheless, Explicit corrective feedback affected learners' internalization. It took more time to improve writing skills without learners' effort to understand the error during writing correction. Thus, learners are prone to repeat errors among their learning process until they internalize the writing patterns (Bitchener, 2005).

However, the internalization process can be different by providing implicit corrective feedback. Implicit feedback is a type of feedback in which the teacher indicates that an error has been made on learner' writing task, but the teacher avoids out providing the right form of the error (Lee, 2007; Pei. 2013). Implicit corrective feedback benefits learners since learners get involved actively in the learning process. The effort they do helps to internalize corrections. Thus, learners benefit more from their writings when they have to make an effort to understand Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 40

what they have been learning. They are able to recognize patterns and use it on different writing tasks. Notwithstanding, implicit corrective feedback requires carefulness. The agent who provides implicit corrective feedback must take care about the intended meaning because teachers' role is to guide and avoid learners' confusion. Implicit corrective feedback requires effort on both sides; providers and receivers.

On the other hand, explicit and implicit were evident in two forms: written and verbal. Consequently, corrective feedback can be classified as written-corrective and oral-corrective feedback. Written corrective feedback was moderately notorious. This type of feedback occurred among the 20 studies in this analysis. The results showed that written feedback is the most used in writing tasks. Written corrective feedback is mandatory for writing correction because the only way to correct writing is through writing (Pei, 2013). Pei (2013) mentioned that teachers cannot deny that written feedback is what they know to correct students' writings. Written feedback benefits students who are afraid to interact with their teachers (Ghanbari, Karampourchangi, & Reza, 2015). Written corrective feedback affects learners' understanding of corrections, sometimes learners need some clarification of the feedback they received (Alvira, 2016).

However, written feedback can help to improve areas of writing as local and global aspects. It means that written feedback can be used to highlight writing's aspects and learners can take a look when they need. It depends on the explicitness of the feedback. Written corrective feedback most of the time is explicit because of the complexity of providing implicit corrective feedback without misguiding learners. Explicit written corrective feedback is simple and does

not require carefulness. Conversely, Implicit written corrective feedback must be provided carefully, so learners can achieve feedback goals.

On the other hand, oral corrective was not commonly used, nevertheless oral corrective feedback was beneficial because it provides information that cannot be understood in written corrective feedback. Alvira, (2016) mentioned that during oral corrective feedback learners can ask for clarification. Furnborough and Truman (2009) found that oral feedback provides learners a clear view of what they should improve through the teachers' clarification. Oral feedback benefits learners since they are able to negotiate with their tutor. Learners have the opportunity to ask for clarification or a better explanation (Peterson, & McClay, 2010; Alvira, 2016). Moreover, during verbal corrective feedback, teachers tend to use implicit feedback because they have the opportunity to guide students in the way they want. Thus, implicit oral corrective feedback over poses explicit oral corrective feedback.

Finally, oral corrective feedback sometimes works as a complement of written corrective feedback. Thus, written feedback shows what should be corrected and oral feedback gives a better explanation of the corrections that should be done. The provision of written and verbal corrective feedback requires a planned process depending on its explicitness. Also, the provision of written and oral corrective feedback depends on the writing task itself.

5.6. Strategies of corrective feedback.

This table shows the common strategies to provide corrective feedback. Those strategies are direct CF, indirect CF, metalinguistic CF, and focused and unfocused CF. Moreover, the

typology of those strategies was proposed by Ellis (2009) and responded to the form of written corrective feedback.

Table 6 Strategies of CF

	Туре	No study
	Direct	14
	Indirect	9
Strategy of CF	Metalinguistic	3
	Focused	14
	Unfocused	12
	Electronic	1

Table 6 indicates that direct corrective feedback and indirect corrective feedback were commonly identified among the analysis. Direct corrective feedback was used to provide the appropriate linguistic form or structure close to the linguistic commited fault. For instance, Wahtyni (2017) described direct corrective feedback as pointing out unnecessary elements, and the insertion of a missing elements, or the provision of the right form or structure. Moreover, Ferris (2005) highlighted that the effect of direct corrective feedback depends on some conditions. The first one is when the learners are beginners in language proficiency. The second is when the teacher wishes to focus on a particular error. However, direct corrective feedback prone students to repeat errors because of its simplicity. Direct feedback facilitates teachers to provide it and facilitates learners to understand it. Notwithstanding, learners require challenging conditions to overcome their writing weaknesses.

On the other hand, indirect corrective provides the challenging condition. In indirect corrective feedback, the teacher indicates students have made an error in their writing, but the tutor does not highlight the correction of the committed error. Ferris and Roberts (2001) indicated that Indirect corrective feedback most of the time can be presented by providing idications like codes. For instance, coding in the bottom page the number of errors, aplaying hints in order that showing where the error has happened, what type of error it is, or underlining or crossing out the errors. Ferris and Roberts (2001) found that indirect corrective feedback demanded students to make an effort. Thus, the learners were able to internalize the information and correct the errors.

The second strategy for providing corrective feedback was metalinguistic. Metalinguistic is a type of corrective feedback which provides linguistic codes for the committed error. It can be in the form of error codes or a brief grammatical explanation (Ellis, 2008). Bitchener (2005) found that through metalinguistic corrective feedback students performed better because they used the examples as a brief grammatical explanation. Moreover, the analysis revealed that metalinguistic corrective feedback was applied as a complement of direct corrective feedback.

Finally, the strategy of providing focused and unfocused corrective feedback acquired attention. Focused corrective feedback demands providing feedback on an average number of forms that have been selected previously, for example, on the sabject-verb agreement or the use of definite or indefinite articles (Ellis, 2008). The author holds that because the range of the errors is too vast in unfocused CF, learners find it more difficult to process the errors. The provision of focused corrective feedback facilitated the attention of specific students' language features in writing compositions.

Unlike focused corrective feedback, unfocused corrective feedback is provided upon all errors that have been made by students, not only on specific ones (Ellis, 2008). Unfocused corrective feedback does not restrict teachers to provide feedback on students' writing features they consider necessary. Thus, teachers provide feedback upon unpredictable emerging errors. However, unfocused corrective feedback is demanding because focusing on any kind of error consumes time, and that may result in frustration for learners. Additionally, the strategy used to provide corrective feedback depends on the writing features. Thus, the effectiveness of those strategies is related to the condition in which the feedback is provided.

5.7. Type of writing task.

The effect of feedback on writing depends on the type of writing task. Table 4 shows the common types of writing for the 26 studies gathered in the analysis. The types of writing tasks are: essays, paragraphs, and others. Table 4 shows the type of writing task. In terms of complexity, they were classified as: simple and complex. Simple writing tasks included sentences and paragraphs while complex writing tasks included essays and bibliographies.

Table	7	Type	of	writing	task
-------	---	------	----	---------	------

	No. Studies	
Essays	11/26	
Paragraphs	6/26	
Others	6/26	
None mentioned	3/26	

Table 7 shows that essays have a higher effect on writing development because the agent in charge of providing feedback could focus on more aspects (Wahtyni, 2017). Thus, the analysis' results showed that the type of writing task is related to the area of writing improvement. In other words, in order to cover aspects of content and form in a more significant way, the writing task should be a complex one. For instance, Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2016) found that they can examine local and global aspects of complex writing tasks. However, Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2016); Wahtyni (2017) found that if the purpose of the feedback is on grammar and syntax, simple writing tasks are enough to examine and provide feedback in this aspect.

Nevertheless, it is not possible to examine aspects of cohesion and coherence in simple writing tasks. but it can be done in an efficient way in complex writing tasks. Moreover, the analysis' results showed that the type of writing task leads to different areas of writing improvement. It means that biographies, essays, paragraphs or sentences, intend to examine knowledge, fluency, and structure. Those writing tasks focus on those aspects, but those writing tasks lead to a deeper focus than others. Additionally, the type of writing task during feedback provision is not as important as the focus of the feedback, which depends on the type of feedback.

5.8. Agent providers of feedback.

The impact of feedback depends on the agent who provides the feedback. Table 8 shows the common agents during the feedback provision. Those agents are teachers, peers and others. Others included agents like a computer.

Table	8 Agent	providers	of feedback
-------	---------	-----------	-------------

	No of studies	%	
Teachers	19	73 %	
Peers	5	19 %	
Others	2	10 %	

Table 8 shows the agent who provides feedback. The majority of the studies in the analysis evidenced that teachers are the main agent during feedback provision to improve writing skills. The reasons why those studies implemented teachers as the main agent of feedback provision can vary. The first reason is that teachers have the opportunity to apply some kind of pressure on their activities (Furnborough, & Truman, 2009; Leki, 1991). As mentioned by Hyland (2013) students benefit from teacher's feedback because they see teachers as authority. The teachers' role on feedback provision seemed to be crucial on writing improvement. Teachers are the main agent provider of feedback because learners expect that. Similarly, Leki (1991) found that students expected teachers to correct all errors because they felt they needed pressure that only teachers can do in order to improve. Hyland (1990) mentioned that teachers have the advantage of obligating students to go back and rework their tasks.

Second, teachers are the main agents who provide feedback because of the capacity to focus on local and global aspects. It means that teachers are trained to give feedback, and they can focus on aspects such as content or form (Ashraf, Fareed & Bilal, 2016). The feedback provided by the teacher emphasizes the crucial points that learners have to improve.

Furthermore, the feedback provided by the teacher has to motivate learners. Thus, teachers' feedback affected learners' constancy because they worked when the teachers asked them to do it (Ashraf, Fareed & Bilal, 2016).

However, teachers' feedback affected learners' dependency too; they expected teacher's feedback all the time. Dealing with this statement, Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari, (2014) stated that nowadays, classes are changing from teacher-centered to student-centered. Thus, the strategy of feedback provided by the teacher moved to feedback provided by peers. Although peers cannot provide feedback on certain aspects in a deep way, they can increase motivation. If peers are trained to give feedback on the different areas of writing, the effect of feedback can be greater. Finally, peers' feedback affected learners' autonomy; they were able to work by themselves and to help others. Peers' feedback affected learners' confidence and motivation (Weaver, 2006).

Nevertheless, teachers' feedback and peers' do not contradict each other, and they can work in harmony for different purposes. For instance, some studies implemented the two agents' providers of feedback. Adventitiously, the feedback provided by those agents affected learners' motivation. They were able to accept criticism, internalize the information, and transfer or use that information to correct peers' works.



5.9. Perceptions toward corrective feedback.

In this category, ten studies were selected to be analyzed. Then, it presents teachers' and students' perceptions. Moreover, the table indicates positive and negative perceptions, respectively.

	Perceptions	No of studies	
Teachers	Positive	8	
	Negative	0	
Students	Positive	10	
	Negative	5	

Table 9 Perceptions toward feedback

Note 9 = 10

As it can be seen, teachers' perceptions toward feedback are positive. First, Tang and Harrison (2011), Hyland (2013), and Lee, Leong, and Song (2016) found that teachers consider feedback as an essential element in the process of language acquisition since it is a tool to guide students to think about writing errors and learn from them (Lee, Leong, & Song, 2016).

Second, it was found that teachers provide feedback based on their beliefs about the needs and capabilities of their students (Lee, Leong & Song 2016). In other words, the feedback that teachers provide is based on what they consider learners need to become competent writers. Then, teachers' beliefs are basically about giving feedback on local and global aspects of writing. Moreover, Tang and Harrison (2011) found that teachers provide feedback in three ways: grade, grades plus explanation, and detailed feedback of all errors. In fact, feedback upon error benefits Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez

more than providing grades. However, another finding states that teachers rarely establish feedback as a complement for grades explaining the reason for that grade.

Third, some teachers are inclined to view their feedback as beneficial; thus, Furnborough, & Truman, (2009) stated that teachers are seen as the perfect feedback provider because they are trained to do so. However, Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2014) pointed out that feedback provision has been changing. Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2014) mentioned that peers are capable of providing feedback, too. Finally, the results showed that teachers perceive that feedback is acceptable from any agent provider; thus, the agent provider of feedback could be the teacher or peers, but they should be trained beforehand.

Additionally, teachers consider that feedback is beneficial if it is provided orally. When teachers provide oral feedback, they have the facility to explain some aspects that are misunderstood. However, most of the time, teachers provide written feedback because of the condition. Pei (2013) states that the perfect way to correct writing is through writing. Finally, there was not a big deal with the type of feedback, so teachers considered that any kind of feedback turns into a benefit because there is always something to improve.

On the other hand, the findings also revealed that some students responded positively to feedback. They perceived feedback as a necessary complement to writing practice (Rotsaert, Panadero, & Schellens, 2017). This complement shows students the areas and aspects they should focus on during the writing process; in other words, feedback shows their weaknesses. As mentioned by Furnborough and Truman (2009); and Hyland (2013), teachers can motivate learners. Conversely, some students considered that peers' feedback helped to improve their Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 50

writing skills since peers' feedback provided more than error focus, and it also offered praises too.

Notwithstanding, the perception of beneficial feedback is based on aspects such as cognitive styles or the student's level. Thus, some students respond negatively to feedback; they perceive that feedback does not always fulfill their needs; sometimes, they feel that it is insufficient to improve learning (Weaver, 2006). Additionally, students consider that some comments are too general or vague, lack guidance, focus on the negative, or are unrelated to the writing task. Therefore, when students receive feedback and a grade, they perceive feedback as an explanation of the grade instead of information that helps them to improve their learning.

Finally, any kind of feedback was accepted by students. However, there was a little inclination for direct strategy and explicit type of feedback, because that make feedback simple and straightforward. In the same way, students considered that written feedback was more relevant than oral feedback, because they avoided face-to-face interaction, but there was no trouble receiving verbal feedback. Thus, Mulliner and Tucker (2015) found that students and teachers perceived oral and written feedback to complement each other.

CHAPTER VI

6. Conclusions and Recommendations

6.1. Conclusions

According to Hyland (2013), the writing process is based on the appropriate and strategic use of language with structural accuracy and communicative potential. Many cognitive processes participate in writing, making this skill essential in language teaching, learning, and assessment (Nasim, Azade, & Mohammad 2015). Then the necessity of the use of feedback as a strategy to improve writing. Feedback is any kind of information given to learners about their performance of a learning task, usually to improve their performance (Ur, 2006). Hyland states its importance by saying that feedback in writing motivates students to develop their writing skills.

Consequently, the results of twenty-six empirical studies were analyzed to identify the effects of corrective feedback on ESL/EFL students' writing skills. These studies were divided into six main categories: approaches to improving writing skill, type of corrective feedback,

strategies of Corrective feedback, agent provider of feedback, writing tasks, and teachers' and students' perceptions.

First, regarding the effects of corrective feedback, the type, and the strategies play an important role in writing development. It has been mentioned that any kind of feedback can influence writing improvement; however, to provide feedback accurately and make it useful for students, it has to identifystudents' weaknesses to modify learners' cognitive processes (Rotsaert, Panadero, & Schellens, 2017). Therefore, two types of corrective feedback were identified as effective in improving writing skills; explicit and implicit. Those two types of CF were provided in two forms; written and oral.

Second, four strategies of corrective feedback resulted in being effective on writing development. However, the application of one strategy over others depends on writing conditions and the purpose of the feedback. Ellis (2009) proposed a typology of strategies of corrective feedback and included: direct, indirect, focused, and unfocused. Notwithstanding, the analysis demonstrated that direct strategies of corrective feedback were commonly used.

Additionally, three main approaches resulted to be closely related to the types of feedback. The approaches included written and verbal feedback though there was an inclination for direct strategies of corrective feedback. These approaches are the product-oriented approach, the process-oriented approach, and the process-product approach. The product-oriented approach, whose focus is content, affected organization, transition, and connection. The process-oriented approach, whose focus is the form, influenced grammar and syntax. Therefore, those approaches working together, process-product approach, made feedback meaningful because Jorge Alejandro Saeteros Narvaez 53

learners focused on local and global aspects of writing (Haniza, Maulan, & Ismail, 2008; Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari 2016).

Third, the agent provider of feedback played an important role in writing development. Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2016) found that teachers have been seen as the perfect agent because they are trained to provide feedback on local and global aspects. Those aspects cannot be identified easily by others. However, nowadays, classes are moving from being teachercentered to student-centered. Then feedback is also given by peers and not only teachers. However, the feedback that peers provide focuses on praises rather than aspects of writing (Furnborough, & Truman, 2009). Sotoudehnama and Pilehvari (2016) found that peers can fulfill feedback parameters if they are trained before providing it.

Finally, teachers' and students' perceptions coincided with the idea of feedback as a vital core part to improve writing skills. They perceive that feedback fulfills their writing needs, although it does not always happen, sometimes they feel that it is insufficient to improve learning (Weaver, 2006). It was found that feedback is provided based on the beliefs of the agent; those beliefs are about the needs and capabilities of their students (Lee, Leong & Song 2016).

On the other hand, some other aspects did not coincide between learners and teachers. Teachers perceived that CF strategies and the types of CF are effective. However, students perceived that some (direct- explicit) are more effective than others. Additionally, students

expected teachers' feedback most of the time. However, they were open to receiving feedback from anyone who was trained in providing feedback.

6.2. Recommendations

Based on the results of the studies, two recommendations have been established. First, taking into account students' perceptions, teachers should be concerned about all CF strategies so that students do not consider feedback vague or too general. Also, teachers should make students understand that feedback is not about explaining a grade but pointing out relevant writing aspects where students should improve. In other words, feedback should identify students' weaknesses.

Finally, the analysis showed that most studies belonged to Asia and the Middle East, and a few empirical studies were conducted in America. Therefore, a final recommendation is to conduct primary studies in Ecuador about the effects of CF on the development of writing skills and the perceptions of students and teachers towards it.

References

- Abadikhah, A., & Ashoori, (2012), the Effect of Written Corrective Feedback on EFL Learners' Performance after Collaborative Output; *Journal of Language Teaching and Research, 3*, (1), 118-125,
- Alvira, R. (2016). The impact of oral and written feedback on EFL writers with the use of screencasts. Profile, 18(2), 79-92.
- Alghazo, K., Bani Abdelrahman, M., & Abu Qbeitah, A. (2009). The effect of teachers' error feedback on Al-Hussein Bin Talal University students' self- correction ability. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 12(1), 142-156.
- Ashraf, A., Fareed, M., & Bilal, M. (2016) ESL learners' writing skill: problems, factors and suggestions. *Journal of education and Social Sciences*, 4(2), 1, 81-93
- Bitchener, J. (2005) the effect of different types of corrective feedback on ESL student writing. Journal of second language writing 14, 191-205
- Bitchener, J. & Knoch, U. (2010). Raising the Linguistics Accuracy Level of Advanced L2 Writers with Written Corrective Feedback. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, 19, 207-217.
- Bitchener, J. (2008). Evidence in Support of Written Corrective Feedback. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, 17, 102-118.
- Brown, H. D. (2000). Principles of language learning and teaching. New York, NY: Addison Wesley Longman.

- Brown, H. (2001). Teaching by principles: An interactive approach to language pedagogy. (2nd Edition) NY: Longman.
- Correa, R., Martinez, M., Molina, M., Silva, J., & Torres, M. (2013). The impact of explicit feedback on EFL High school students engaged in writing tasks. *Profile*, 15 (2), 149-163.
- Chandler, J. (2003). The efficacy of various kinds of error feedback for improvement in the accuracy and fluency of L2 student writing. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, 12(3), 267–296.
- Ellis, R. (2009). A Typology of Written Corrective Feedback Types. *ELT Journal*, 63(2): 97-107.
- Duijnhouwer, h., Prins, f., Stokking, k. (2012) Feedback providing improvement strategies and reflection on feedback use: Effects on students' writing motivation, process, and performance. *Learning and Instruction* 22(1), 171-184
- Ferris, D. (2003). Response to student writing: Implications for second language students. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Ferris, D., & Roberts, B. (2001). Error feedback in L2 writing classes: How explicit does it need to be? *Journal of Second Language Writing*, *10*, *161–184*.
- Ferris, D.R., & Helt, M. (2000). Was Truscott right? New evidence on the effects of error correction in L2 writing classes. Paper presented at Proceedings of the American Association of Applied Linguistics Conference, Vancouver, B.C.
- Furnborough, C., Truman, M. (2009) Adult beginner distance language perceptions and use of assignment feedback. *Distance Educacion* 30(3), 399-418.

- Grami, G.M. (2005). The Effect of Teachers Written Feedback on ESL Students' Perception: A Study in a Saudi ESL University-Level Context: Annual Review of Education, Communication and Language Science. 2 (1), 245-267
- Ghanbari, N., Karampourchangi, A., & Reza, M., (2015). An exploration of the effect of time pressure and peer feedback on the Iranian EFL students' writing performance. *Theory and practice in language studies*, 11(5), 2251-2261.
- Haniza, N., Maulan, S., & Ismail, N. (2008). The impact of teacher feedback on ESL students' writing performance. Academic *journal of social studies*, 8(1), 45-54
- Huisman, B., Saab, N., van Driel, J., & van den Broek, P. (2018). Peer feedback on academic writing: undergraduate students' peer feedback role, peer feedback perceptions and essay *performance. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education.* 43(6), 955–968.
- Hattie, J., & Timperley, H. (2007). The Power of Feedback. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(1), 81–112.
- Hyland, K. (1990). Providing productive feedback. ELT Journal, 44(4), 279-285
- Hyland, K. (2003). Second language writing. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hyland, K., & Hyland, F. (2006). *Feedback on second language students' writing*, New York: Cambridge University Press. 39(2).
- Hyland, K. (2013). Faculty feedback: perceptions and practice in L2 disciplinary writing. Journal of Second Language Writing 22(2), 240–253
- Hyland, K. (2013). Students' perception of hidden messages in teachers' written feedback. Journal of studies in educational evaluation. 38, 180-187

- Osuala, R., Onwuagboke, B., & Agoha, T., (2018). Continuous Assessment Feedback and Students' Performances in Semester Examinations in a College of Education. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 6(6), 688-693.
- Kluger, A., & DeNisi, A. (1996). The effects of feedback interventions on performance: a historical review, a meta-analysis, and a preliminary feedback intervention theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 119, 254-284.
- Lee, I. (2007). Feedback in Hong Kong secondary writing classrooms: Assessment for learning or assessment of learning? *Assessing Writing*, *12*, 180–198.
- Lee, H., Leong, A., & Song, G. (2016). Investigating teacher perceptions of feedback. *ELT Journal*, *71*(*1*), 60–68.
- Liskinasih, A. (2016) corrective feedback in CLT-adopted classrooms' interactions. Indonesian. *Journal of applied linguistics*, 1(6), 60- 69.
- Leki, I. (1991) The Preferences of ESL Students for Error Correction in College-Level Writing Classes, *Foreign Language Annals*, 24(3),
- Long, M. H. (1996). The role of the linguistic environment in second language acquisition. In W.
 C. Ritchie & T. K. Bhatia (Eds.), *Handbook of Second Language Acquisition (pp. 413-468)*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Mulliner, E., & Tucker, M. (2015). Feedback on feedback practice: perceptions of students and academics. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 42(2), 266–288.
- Nasim, G., Azade, K., & Mohammad, R. (2015). Exploration of the effect of time pressure and peer feedback on the Iranian EFL students' writing performance. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 2251-2261.

- Norouzian, R., & Khomeijani, A. (2012). Written Error Feedback from Perception to Practice: A Feedback on Feedback; *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 11-22,
- Nunan, D. (1995). *Language teaching methodology*: A text-book for teachers. London, UK: Prentice Hall.
- Patchan, M., Charney D., & Schunn, C. (2009). A validation study of students' end comments: Comparing comments by students, a writing instructor, and a content instructor. *Journal* of Writing Research, 1 (2), 124-152
- Pei, K. (2013) An analysis of written feedback on ESL students' writing, *Procedia- social and behavioral sciences* 123, 389-397.
- Peterson, S., & McClay, J., (2010). Assessing and providing feedback for student writing in Canadian classrooms. *Assessing Writing* 15(1), 86-99.
- Rotsaert, T., Panadero, E., & Schellens, T. (2017). Anonymity as an instructional scaffold in peer assessment: its effects on peer feedback quality and evolution in students' perceptions about peer assessment skills. European *Journal of Psychology of Education*, 33(1), 75–99.
- Sotoudehnama, E. & Pilehvari, A. (2016) the impact of peer review on EFL learners' writing proficiency: global and local aspects. *Porte linguarum*, 35-47
- Schmidt, R. (1990). The role of consciousness in second language learning. Applied Linguistics, 11(2), 129-158.
- Sheen, Y. (2004). Corrective feedback and learner uptake in communicative classrooms across instructional settings. *Language Teaching Research*, 8(3), 263-300.



- Sheen, Y., Wright, D. & Moldawa, A. (2009). Differential effects of focused and unfocused written correction on the accurate use of grammatical forms by adult ESL learners. System, 37, 556-569.
- Schwartz, B. (1993). On explicit and negative data effecting and affecting competence and linguistic behavior. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 15(2), 147-163.
- Tang, J., & Harrison, C. (2011). Investigating university tutor perceptions of assessment feedback: three types of tutor beliefs. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 36(5), 583–604.
- Truscott, J. (1996). The case against grammar correction in L2 writing classes. *Language Learning*, 46(2), 327-369.
- Truscott, J. (2007). The Effect of Error Correction on Learners' Ability to Write Accurately. Journal of Second Language Writing, 16, 255-272.
- Thompson, C. (2002). "Teaching critical thinking in EAP courses in Australia", in TESOL Journal, 11, 4: 15-20.
- Ur, P. (2006). A course in language teaching: *Practice and theory*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Wahtyni, S. (2017) the effect of different feedback on writing quality of college students with different cognitive styles, *Dinamika ilmu, journal of education*. 17(1),
- Wang, W. (2014). Students' perceptions of rubric-referenced peer feedback on EFL writing: A longitudinal inquiry. Assessing Writing, 19, 80–96.
- Yamalee, E., & Tangkiengsirisin, S. (2019). Effects of Integrated Feedback on Academic Writing Achievement. Arab World English Journal, 10 (3) 250-270.